Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (2000-)

2018

SALT LAKE COUNTY, DUCHESNE COUNTY, UINTAH COUNTY, WASHINGTON COUNTY, and WEBER COUNTY, political subdivisions of the State of Utah, Plaintiffs/Appellants, v. STATE OF UTAH, DELTA AIRLINES, INC. AND SKY WEST, INC., Defendants/Appellees. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

INTRODUCTION

On July 17, 2017, the Counties brought a declaratory action asserting eleven (11) causes of action that challenge the constitutionality of Utah Code sections 59-2-201(4) ("Valuation Law"), 59-2-804 ("Allocation Law"), and 59-2-1007(2)(b) ("Review Threshold Law") (collectively, the "Challenged Laws"), on the basis the Challenged Laws lack uniformity and violate equal protection. Namely, whether independently or collectively the laws violate (1) the Utah Constitution's (a) uniformity and fair market value clauses for property tax valuations and assessments (Utah Const. Art. XIII, section 2); (b) separation of powers and delegation of assessment authority clauses (Utah Const. Art. V, section 1; Utah Const. Art. XIII, section 6); and (c) uniform operation of laws clauses (Utah Const. Art. I, section 24); and (2) the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution. (R. 1-30).

The State of Utah ("State"), Delta Airlines, Inc. and Sky West, Inc.("Airlines") (collectively "Appellees") sought dismissal of the Counties' constitutional claims arguing they were unripe and/or the Counties failed to exhaust administrative remedies with the Utah State Tax Commission ("Tax Commission"). (R. 282-295; R. 562-587). Granting the Appellees' motions, the district court acknowledged long standing precedent that the Tax Commission lacks authority to rule on the constitutionality of a statute. (R. 913-914, citing *Tax Comm'n v. Wright*, 596 P.2d 634, 636 (Utah 1979)). The district court also ruled that because the Counties' had affirmatively challenged the Tax Commission's use of the Valuation and Allocation Laws in 2017 those claims were ripe for judicial review. (R. 912).

The district court, however, dismissed the Review Threshold Law causes of action as unripe because the Counties had not alleged that they had appealed a valuation determination with the Tax Commission that was subsequently rejected because a County or Counties did not meet the 50% or more undervaluation threshold needed to invoke the Tax Commission's jurisdiction. (R.912-913). The district court also dismissed the Counties' remaining causes of action in sweeping fashion for failure to exhaust administrative remedies. (R. 913-915). This appeal follows. (R. 917-920).1

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Issue #1: The Review Threshold Law found at Utah Code section 59-2-1007(2)(b), is facially unconstitutional and belies principles of uniformity. What is more, the law insulates certain airline tax assessments from judicial review unless the assessed value of airline property falls below the 50% threshold mandated by the Legislature as a predicate for invoking the Tax Commission's jurisdiction. (R. 366-371; R. 645-647; 650; R. 750-783; R. 803-809; R. 941-946; R 963). Missing those points, the district court erred when it dismissed as unripe the Counties' uniformity challenge to the Review Threshold Law, because no County had first exhausted an appeal before the Tax Commission for which the Tax Commission would lack the jurisdiction to consider. *Id*.

Standard of Review: "A district court's grant of a motion to dismiss based upon the allegations in the plaintiff's complaint presents a question of law that we review for

¹ For purposes of this appeal, the Counties have not challenged the dismissal of the Second, Fourth, Fifth, and Ninth Claims for Relief dismissed by the district court in its Ruling and Order entered June 22, 2018 (R. 908-916.).

correctness." Osguthorpe v. Wolf Mt. Resorts, L.C., 2010 UT 29, ¶ 10, 232 P.3d 999 (Utah 2010). Jurisdictional questions, such as subject matter jurisdiction, are reviewed for correctness. Mallory v. Brigham Young Univ., 2014 UT 27, ¶8, 332 P.3d 922 (Utah 2014) (citing Canfield v. Layton Cty., 2005 UT 60, ¶10, 122 P.3d 622 (Utah 2005)).

Issue #2: A party seeking judicial review must exhaust its administrative remedies unless a party raises a purely legal question that cannot be finally determined in an administrative proceeding. (R.642-705; R. 750-783; R. 803-809; R. 963-973). Here, the Tax Commission lacks jurisdiction to resolve questions that challenge the constitutionality of a legislative enactment. *Id*. Misapplying this principle, the district court erred when it dismissed the Counties' First, Third, Sixth, Seventh, Eighth, Tenth and Eleventh causes of action for failure to exhaust administrative remedies where the Counties' challenges to the constitutionality of Utah Code §§ 59-2-201(4) and 59-2-804, neither can be decided by nor depend upon action taken by the Tax Commission.

Standard of Review: A reviewing court will affirm a judgment on the pleadings only if, as a matter of law, the nonmoving party could not prevail under the facts alleged. Therefore, an appellate court gives such a ruling no deference and reviews it for correctness. *Golding v. Ashley Cent. Irrigation Co.*, 793 P.2d 897 (Utah 1990).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND SUMMARY OF THE COUNTIES' ALLEGATIONS, CLAIMS AND ARGUMENT

This appeal challenges the validity of <u>legislative action</u> contained in the Challenged Laws, Utah Code Ann. §§ 59-2-201(4), 59-2-804 and 59-2-1007(2)(b), that usurps constitutional mandates of uniformity and equality for airline property assessment. (R. 1-30). Stated differently, this appeal challenges a set of tax laws that single out the airline industry for favorable treatment and intrude upon the Utah's Constitution's mandate that tax laws apply uniformly and equally to all Utah taxpayers. *Id*. Additionally, this appeal challenges whether in enacting the Challenged Laws, the Legislature unlawfully impaired and abated meaningful review of many airline assessments.

Succinctly, the purely constitutional challenges on appeal are:

<u>Constitutional Uniformity Violations:</u>

- The Valuation Law's implementation of the clear and convincing standard violates uniformity by requiring a different evidentiary standard for airlines' assessments. (R. 20-21 at ¶¶ 83-86).
- The Valuation Law's mandatory discount violates uniformity because it provides a discount only for those taxpayers who own three or more aircraft, but not to those who own two or own multiple items of property. (R. 22-23 at §§ 94 101).
- The Allocation Law's mandatory allocation factor violates uniformity because it results in an allocation of property less than 100% while other property allocations for property other than airline property use factors that equal 100%. (R.25-26 at ¶¶ 112 115).
- 4. The Review Threshold Law violates uniformity by insulating Commission assessments of airline property from review that are believed to be less than fair market value from review. (R. 27 at ¶¶ 123-124).

Violation of Separation of Powers:

5. The Valuation Law improperly allocates the authority to value airline property exclusively an executive function—to the Legislature. (R. 25 at ¶¶ 108-111).

De Facto Exemption Violation:

6. The allocation factor in the Allocation Law acts as a defacto property tax exemption which may only be done by constitutional amendment. (R. 26 at ¶¶ 116 - 119).

Equal Protection Violation:

 Utah Code Sections 59-2-201(4), 59-2-804, 59-2-1007(2)(b) violate state and federal equal protection guarantee. (R. 27 at ¶ 125).

Diversely, this case is not a "property tax appeal" and it does not challenge the assessed value of any airline. (R. 1-30). As such it is not dependent upon any specific assessment of under-valued airline property that would make the Counties' claims subject to administrative exhaustion. *Id.* Rather, the constitutional questions ask whether the Legislature possessed authority to usurp the constitutional mandates of uniformity in taxation, to intrude upon the separation of powers, and to upset the balance created under the equal protection prongs of Utah Constitution Article I, section 24; Article V; and Article XIII, section (2)(1) to allow the airline industry to benefit from non-uniformity and un-equalization through receiving statutory standards and treatment that no other Utah taxpayers receive. *Id.*

The district court, however, erroneously dismissed, wholesale, the Counties' causes of action for failure to exhaust administrative remedies without conducting a separate analysis as to each independently and alternatively pled claim. (R. 913-915). On appeal, the Counties postulate that a court may not grant dismissal in wholesale to *all* claims when a party has independently pled claims that give rise to purely legal questions that cannot be obviated through administrative adjudication and for which adjudication serves no useful purpose.

Equally erroneous, the district court also dismissed the Review Threshold Law causes of action as unripe, finding the complaint failed to specify concrete action by the Commission—as opposed to the language on the face of the statute itself—that deprived the Counties of an opportunity to pursue an appeal of a specific airline assessment. (R. 911-913). The district court's holding misses the point of the Counties' unconstitutional challenge to the Review Threshold Law. The Review Threshold Law found at Utah Code Section 59-2-1007(2)(b) inherently belies principles of uniformity by insulating tax assessments from judicial review unless the assessed value falls below the 50% threshold mandated by the Legislature as a predicate for invoking the Tax Commission's jurisdiction. Therefore, it is the certainty of the statutory rule's deprivation of administrative review that violates the Utah Constitution.

The district court's Ruling appears fundamentally to misapprehend the Counties' claims and causes of action for declaratory relief. (R. 1-30). Instead, there is simply no administrative remedy that will resolve or prove useful to determine the constitutional challenges. (R.642-705). Nor are the legislative enactments that have long since been adopted and implemented by State actors somehow not "ripe" for judicial review. (R. 356-

372; R. 803-809.) Accordingly, the district court's Ruling and Order dismissing the Counties' causes of action should be reversed and the matter remanded to the trial court for further proceedings.

ARGUMENT

The Legislature has created an unconstitutional tax scheme for Airlines that should and must be stricken. The Challenged Laws expressly establish formal classifications and statutory methodologies that are non-uniform, and extinguish the Counties' right to redress the attendant injuries to their resident taxpayers. (R. 1-30). Despite the purely constitutional nature of the claims, the Counties' causes of action were erroneously dismissed by the district court on June 22, 2018. (R. 908-916.)

Specifically, the district court dismissed as unripe the Counties' Ninth and Tenth Claims for Relief because the Counties' Complaint failed to specify the Counties had appealed to the Tax Commission an assessment that failed to meet the 50% or more valuation threshold, for which appeal the Commission would lack jurisdiction. (R. 912-913). The Court then dismissed all remaining causes of action in sweeping fashion for failure to exhaust administrative remedies without separate analysis as to each claim. (R. 913-915). However, none of the subject constitutional violations at issue on this appeal are unripe or can be decided by the Tax Commission. (R. 1-23, 25-27); *TDM, Inc. v. Tax Comm'n*, 2004 UT App 433, ¶¶ 4-5, quoting *Nebeker v. State Tax Comm'n*, 2001 UT 74, ¶ 14, 34 P.3d 180 (Utah 2001) and citing *Brumley v. Tax Comm'n.*, 868 P.2d 796, 799 (Utah 1993).

I. THE COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THE COUNTIES' TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION WAS UNRIPE.

The Counties' claims and causes of action were brought pursuant to the Utah Declaratory Judgment Act ("Act"), Utah Code section. § 78B-6-401. (R.7. at ¶ 16). Under the Act, district courts are granted jurisdiction and wide discretion "to determine any question or construction or validity of a statute that affects the rights, status, or other legal relations of any person and to declare that person's rights, status, or legal relations under the statute." Miller v. Weaver, 2003 UT 12, ¶ 15, 66 P.3d 592, 597; see also UTAH CODE ANN. § 78B-6-412 (requiring the Act to be "liberally construed and administered"). In this context, the district court may adjudicate the Counties' claims if: (i) there is a justiciable controversy; (ii) the parties' interests are adverse; (iii) the party seeking relief has a legally protectable interest; and (iv) the issues are ripe for judicial determination.² Id.; see also Jenkins v. Swan, 675 P.2d 1145, 1148 (Utah 1983). "A justiciable controversy authorizing entry of a declaratory judgment [under the Act] is one wherein the plaintiff possesses a protectable interest at law or in equity and the right to a judgment, and the judgment, when pronounced, must be such as would give specific relief." Baird v. State, 574 P.2d 713, 716 (Utah 1978).

All the Counties' factual allegations that give rise to their causes of action under the Valuation and Allocation Laws were found by the district court to be sufficiently pled to

 $^{^2}$ The Airlines and the State of Utah disputed only the fourth element, i.e., whether the Counties' claims presented a justiciable controversy because the challenges are not based upon any specific assessment." (R. 282-295; R. 562-563). Therefore, only the ripeness requirement for adjudication under the Declaratory Act was addressed by the lower Court and subject to this appeal. (R. 911-913).

demonstrate a justiciable controversy. (R. 912). The district court, however, found the Counties' Review Threshold Law claims unripe because the Complaint "does not contain any allegations where the Counties identified a specific instance in which they were denied [by the Tax Commission] the opportunity to pursue an appeal of airline assessment." (R. 912-913). The district court's holding, however, went awry of the Counties' stated constitutional challenge.

For clarity, the Review Threshold Law found at Utah Code section 59-2-1007(2)(b) inherently violates principles of uniformity and equal protection by insulating tax assessments from judicial review unless the assessed value falls below the prerequisite 50% threshold mandated by the Legislature to invoke the Tax Commission's jurisdiction. UTAH CODE ANN. § 59-2-1007(2)(b). Therefore, it is the certainty of the statutory rule's deprivation of administrative review that violates the Utah Constitution.

Put another way, the constitutional violation lies in the fact the Counties are prohibited from seeking administrative review of Tax Commission assessments of airline property that are below market value or that lack uniformity except in those rare instances where the counties contend fair market value is 50% more than the assessed value of the prior year's assessment. *Id.* But depriving the Counties of the ability to challenge the entirety of the statutory scheme unless and until it can allege facts to show that the scheme which is unconstitutional on its face has also been unconstitutionally applied, smacks of legislative overreach. (R. 7 at ¶18; R. 20 at ¶80-81; R. 27 at ¶123-124). But a deprivation of constitutional principles evident on the face of an unconstitutional statute occurred and will

occur, regardless of any affirmative action or inaction by the Commission. It is this statutory prerequisite in effect since 2015 itself that deprived the Counties of an opportunity to pursue an appeal of a specific airline assessment.

Contrary to what the Court found, it is not the correlation of a designated "tax assessment that has been reduced under the [challenged law] with a resulting loss of revenue to the relevant county" that makes the Counties' Tenth Claim ripe for review. (R. 912, citing *Salt Lake Cty. v. Bangerter*, 928 P.2d 384, 385 (Utah 1996)). Rather, ripeness occurred when the "conflict over the application of a legal provision sharpened into an actual or imminent clash of legal rights and obligations between the parties thereto." *Boyle v. Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co.*, 866 P.2d 595, 598 (Utah Ct. App. 1993) (quoting *Redwood Gym v. Salt Lake County Comm'n*, 624 P.2d 1138, 1148 (Utah 1981)).

Although ripeness requires more than "than a difference of opinion regarding the hypothetical application of [a provision] to a situation in which the parties might, at some future time, find themselves, where—as here—enforcement of a statute has already occurred, or where enforcement is imminent and certain, the challenge will not be [and should not be] rejected on ripeness grounds." *Id.*, quoting *Redwood Gym v. Salt Lake County Comm'n*, 624 P.2d at 1148; *see also Reg'l Rail Reorganization Act Cases*, 419 U.S. 102, 144 (1974) ("Where the inevitability of the operation of a statute against certain individuals is patent, it is irrelevant to the existence of a justiciable controversy that there will be a time delay before the disputed provisions will come into effect.") (citing *Pennsylvania v. West Virginia*, 262 U.S. 553, 592-593 (1923) and *Pierce v. Society of*

Sisters, 268 U.S. 510, 536 (1925)). Indeed, "one does not have to await the consummations of threatened injury to obtain preventive relief. If the injury is certainly impending that is enough." *Id.* (quoting *Pennsylvania v. West Virginia*, 262 U.S. at 593).

Notwithstanding these basic legal principles, the district court erroneously relied upon *Salt Lake County v. Bangerter*, supra, to hold the contrary. (R. 912-913). *Bangerter* involved a statutory remedy under the Equalization Act that could be applied only if and when invoked by a taxpayer, which was never done. *Id.* at 385. Accordingly, the Utah Supreme Court found "there was no justiciable controversy and consequently, the issues between the parties . . . not ripe for judicial determination" because the county could not show that the remedy had ever been, or would ever be, invoked. *Id.* at 385-386.

Here, by contrast, the Review Threshold Law is invoked ab initio and prevents any County to appeal valuations that are below the 50% threshold since 2015. (R. 19-20 at ¶¶77-82; R. 750-783; R. 803-809). It is the threshold's statutory bar that itself demonstrates there is not only a substantial likelihood that a controversy will develop in the future, but that actual controversy has already occurred because the county has been deprived of its right of redress to assessments that fall short of the statute's percentage prerequisite. *Id.*; *Salt Lake County v. Bangerter*, 928 P.2d at 385. Ripeness does not require a party to file an appeal that is expressly prohibited by the plain language of the statute. The clear and express prohibition itself makes the claim against the statute ripe. Absent the plain language, appeals could have been filed, but because of the prohibition, that opportunity was extinguished.

Furthermore, the court's disregard of subsequent factual evidence that showed that the Tax Commission, in fact, dismissed four appeals for failing to meet the Review Threshold Law was also error when reviewing the claim under Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1). (R. 913). (stating "[a]lthough the Commission dismissed four appeals under § 59-2-1007(2)(b) since the Complaint in this case was filed, the Court agrees with the State that this does not fix the deficiencies in the Counties' Complaint.) A court when considering a Rule 12(b)(1) motion to dismiss, like here, should consider materials outside the pleadings, including supplemented factual allegations to determine whether any set of facts support the cause of action pled. Coombs v. Juice Works Dev., Inc., 2003 UT App 388, ¶ 7, 81 P.3d 769; Wheeler v. McPherson, 2002 UT 16, ¶ 20, 40 P.3d 632 (quoting Spoons v. Lewis, 1999 UT 82, ¶ 5, 987 P.2d 36). In fact, the District Court should only have dismissed the Complaint "if it clearly appear[ed] that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his or her claim." Am. W. Bank Members, L.C. v. State, 2014 UT 49, ¶7, 342 P.3d 224 (Utah 2014); Golding, 793 P.2d at 898 ("The grant of a motion for judgment on the pleadings is reviewed under the same standard as the grant of a motion to dismiss.").

On April 4, 2018, the Counties provided notice to the district court that days prior--on March 28, 2018--the Tax Commission granted summary judgment and dismissed four pending administrative appeals related to taxation of airline property based, in part, upon lack of subject matter jurisdiction under Utah Code Section 59-2-1007 requiring a 50% threshold to hear the appeals. (R. 750-783; R. 803-809, and declining to address the constitutional question, citing *Nebeker v. Utah State Comm'n*, 2001 UT 74, 34 P.3d 180). These additional, subsequent factual developments indisputably confirmed the Counties had suffered actual injury and that its claim has never been simply a hypothetical application of the challenged statute based on undeveloped facts. (R. 803-809.). Rather, the injury is patent and the Counties have been and continue to be deprived of any appeal of the airline property assessments that fail to meet the unconstitutional, non-uniform threshold.3 *Id*.

The law should not be applied in a manner that requires the Counties to pursue a needlessly time-consuming and wasteful case-by-case challenge to generate an affirmative denial by the Tax Commission of a constitutional issue that it cannot decide. This is especially true when the Review Threshold Law prevents the challenges.4 Here, the

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