# Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (2000-)

2018

Salt Lake County, Duchesne County, Uintah County, Washington County, and Weber County, All Political Subdivisions of the State of Utah, Plaintiffs/Appellants, v. State of Utah, Delta Air Lines, Inc., and Skywest Airlines, Inc., Defendants/Appellees : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

## I. <u>The District Court Correctly Dismissed The Counties' Claims Regarding The</u> Valuation And Allocation Laws For Failure To Exhaust Administrative <u>Remedies.</u>

The Counties' appeal focuses only on their facial challenges as though the Complaint contained nothing more. By doing this, the Counties hope to avoid the requirement to exhaust their administrative remedies before seeking judicial review. But the Complaint plainly alleges both facial and "as-applied" challenges. The Counties cannot ignore this fact. The Counties' pleading controls, and the Counties' facial claims should not be viewed in isolation. The Court must consider all allegations of the Complaint to determine if the district court properly dismissed the Counties' claims.

Based on all the Complaint's claims and allegations, factual findings are required to determine whether a constitutional violation is present, or whether the matter may be resolved on alternative grounds that would obviate the need to address the constitutional claims. *See Gardner v. State*, 2010 UT 46, ¶ 93, 234 P.3d 1115 (recognizing Utah Supreme Court's "obligation to avoid addressing constitutional issues unless required to do so") (internal quotation marks omitted). Recognizing this, the district court correctly held that the Counties are required to exhaust their administrative remedies at the Commission.

## II. <u>The Cases Pending In The District Court Do Not Satisfy The Case And</u> <u>Controversy And Exhaustion Requirements.</u>

Even if the Counties' claims only involve a facial challenge (and they do not), the Complaint would still fail to satisfy Utah's "ripeness" standards and would have been properly dismissed for lack of a case and controversy. Perhaps recognizing this, the Counties cite to the four Commission cases which Appellant Salt Lake County appealed to the district court on the Threshold Law (Cty. Br., pp. 23-25), saying it is "senseless" to require exhaustion in this case when "there is no administrative remedy to exhaust because the statute under challenge prevents administrative adjudication in the first instance." (Cty. Br., pp. 24). But affirming the district court's decision does not prevent the Counties' constitutional issues from ever being heard; it only requires the Counties to complete the administrative process at the Commission with respect to all their claims and then follow the prescribed judicial review of the Commission's decisions.

## III. <u>The District Court Was Not Required To Analyze Each County Claim</u> <u>Independently.</u>

The district court was not required to provide a claim-by-claim analysis. The Complaint contains eleven claims for relief, and each claim is centered on either the Threshold Law, Valuation Law or Allocation Law. As the district court's order indicates, the claims relating to the Threshold Law were dismissed as unripe, while the claims relating to the Valuation and Allocation Laws were dismissed for failure to exhaust administrative remedies. (R. 911-15). The Counties themselves made arguments to the district court that broadly encompassed all their claims; they did not analyze each claim independently. (R. 356-73, 642-705). And because the Counties did not address the motions to dismiss by independently analyzing each claim, the district court similarly was not required to do so.

#### IV. The Counties' Claims Are Not Ripe.

The Counties affirmatively declare that (1) their "claims are not dependent on the outcome of any specific assessment," (2) this case is not a "property tax appeal," and (3) they are not challenging "the assessed value of any airline." (Cty. Br., pp. 5, 21). However, these contentions conflict with the allegations of the Complaint. (R. 1-30). And even if the Counties' premises were deemed true, they confirm that the Counties' claims are not ripe for review. (R. 282-95, 461-76). The Counties cannot satisfy the case and controversy requirement by introducing hypothetical examples concerning the application of the Challenged Statutes.

To challenge a tax statute in Utah, a county must raise a justiciable controversy. A claim for lost revenue with a demonstrated personal stake in the outcome must be based on an accrued state of facts as opposed to a hypothetical state of facts. Under these principles, where the Counties' claims do not arise from a disputed assessment of any particular airline, as they concede, then no justiciable case and controversy exists. (Cty. Br., p. 5 ("[T]his case is not a 'property tax appeal' and it does not challenge the assessed value of any airline.")). The district court could not resolve the Counties' constitutional claims without the factual allegations in the Complaint because, without more specific pleadings, the claims would not yet be justiciable. The Counties are free to challenge the statutes whenever they can present an actual controversy based on concrete facts subject to the requirement that they also exhaust their administrative remedies.

#### ARGUMENT

## I. THE COUNTIES' CLAIMS WERE PROPERLY DISMISSED FOR FAILURE TO EXHAUST ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES.

### A. <u>How Utah's Property Tax System Works.</u>

The Commission is one of the few remaining executive branch agencies created

and delegated authority by the Utah Constitution. See Utah Const. Art. XIII, § 6(3).<sup>5</sup>

Section 6(3) directs the Commission to:

- (a) administer and supervise the State's tax laws;
- (b) assess mines and public utilities and have such other powers of original assessment as the Legislature may provide by statute;
- (c) adjust and equalize the valuation and assessment of property among the counties;
- (d) <u>as the Legislature provides by statute</u> . . . equalize the assessment and valuation of property within the counties; <u>and</u>
- (e) have other powers as may be provided by statute.

Utah Const. Art. XIII, § 6(3) (emphasis added).

In addition to its authority to assess (value) the tangible taxable property of specified Utah taxpayers under subsection (3), the Commission is also the required beginning point of the constitutionally based process to adjudicate challenges to tax assessments. *See* Utah Const. Art. XIII, § 6(4) ("Notwithstanding the powers granted to the State Tax Commission in this Constitution, the Legislature may by statute authorize any court established under Article VIII to adjudicate, review, reconsider, or redetermine any matter decided by the State Tax Commission relating to revenue and taxation.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Other constitutionally created executive branch agencies are (1) the Board of Pardons and Parole (Utah Const. Art. VII, § 12(1)), and (2) State Board & Education (Art. X, § 3).

The Commission also has a statutory duty to assess by May 1 of each year the property under its jurisdiction "at 100% of fair market value, as valued on January 1, in accordance with <u>this</u> chapter." Utah Code § 59-2-201(1) (emphasis added). And "this chapter" includes the two "airline"-specific statutes challenged by the Counties—the Valuation Law (§ 59-2-201(4)) and the Allocation Law (§ 59-2-804).

The Legislature and the citizens of Utah amended the Utah Constitution in 1998, changing Utah's taxation and adjudication system. Under these provisions, the Commission is intended, with respect to the property under its assessment jurisdiction, to be the initial and primary adjudicator of fair market value and determiner of property subject to taxation subject to the prescribed judicial review of its decisions.<sup>6</sup>

Utah Const. Art. XIII, § 6(4) also authorizes the Legislature to establish a process for judicial review. The Utah Legislature exercised this constitutional delegation in Utah Code § 59-1-601(1). This section provides that "the district court shall have jurisdiction to review by trial de novo all decisions issued by the commission . . . [after July 1, 1994] resulting from formal adjudicative proceedings." And this Court further implemented that constitutional directive by promulgating Rule 6-103 of the Code of Judicial Administration, which provides: "The Judicial Council shall formally designate at least three district court judges who volunteer as tax judges." Utah CJA Rule 6-103. "Tax

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> During the 1998 General Session of the Utah Legislature, Senate Joint Resolution No. 13 was enacted. *See* S.J. Res. 13, 1998 Leg. Sess. This Resolution proposed to amend Art. XIII, § 6 (formerly section 11) of the Utah Constitution to allow for Art. VIII judges to review Commission decisions. This proposition was included on the ballot as Proposition No. 6 and was passed by the citizens of the State at the 1998 General Election to take effect on January 1, 1999. *Id*.

judges" are authorized to hear cases that include "appeals from and petitions for review of decisions of the Utah State Tax Commission."<sup>7</sup> *Id.* 

For property under the Commission's assessment jurisdiction (often referred to as "centrally" or "state" assessed properties), Utah's property tax system operates as follows: The Commission has delegated to its Property Tax Division ("Division") the duty to prepare and issue assessments of the fair market value of these properties by May 1 of each year. *See* Utah Code § 59-2-201(1)(a); Utah Admin. Code r. R861-1A-16(1-4). Notice of the assessment is provided to the taxpayer and to each county in which the taxpayer has property. *See* Utah Code § 59-2-201(1)(a) and (5).

In 2017, a taxpayer could appeal the assessment by June 1 of that year.<sup>8</sup> Subject to the provisions of § 59-2-1007(2), an affected County may appeal the assessment within 30 days after a taxpayer files an appeal, or within 30 days of the last day on which a taxpayer could have filed an appeal.<sup>9</sup> *See* Utah Code § 59-2-1007(2). An appeal is made to the Commission which exercises its authority as a quasi-adjudicative body to hear and resolve the appeal. *See* Utah Code § 59-2-1007(10-12). Adjudicative proceedings before the Commission generally follow the Utah Administrative Procedures Act ("UAPA"); however, the Legislature (1) enacted special provisions in the UAPA dealing with tax matters, and (2) enacted special provisions in the tax code that apply to proceedings

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The district court judge in the court below on this appeal is not designated a tax judge. <sup>8</sup> Utah Code § 59-2-1007 was amended in 2018. The amendment changed the date from June 1 to on or before the later of August 1 or "90 days after the day on which the commission mails the notice of assessment." *See* Utah Code § 59-2-1007(1)(a)(i) and (ii) (2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The same 2018 amendment also changed the County's 30-day deadline to 60 days. *See* Utah Code § 59-2-1007(2) (2018).

before the Commission. The Commission has promulgated rules implementing the UAPA. *See* Utah Code §§ 63G-4-102(2)(b); 59-1-601, 602, 604, 608, and 610; Utah Admin. Code r. R861-1A-22 through R861-1A-31.

A party's right to appeal a Commission decision is also provided in the tax code. If an annual assessment is not timely appealed, the assessment becomes final and no adjudicative proceeding is commenced. If a taxpayer files a timely appeal, an affected County may intervene and participate as a party. *See* Utah Code §§ 59-2-1007(2)(a); 59-1-602(2). A County may also directly appeal the assessment. *See* Utah Code §§ 59-2-1007(2)(b); 59-1-602(1)(a). After the Commission fulfills its quasi-judicial role, a final decision rendered by the Commission is appealable by a taxpayer or a party County to either (1) a tax judge of the district court for a trial *de novo*, or (2) the Utah Supreme Court on the record created before the Commission at the formal adjudicative proceeding. *See* Utah Code §§ 59-1-602(1)(a), 59-1-601(1), 59-1-610(1); *see also* Utah Code § 78A-3-102(3)(e)(ii)

Although the Division is a party in adjudicative proceedings before the Commission and is represented by counsel, it is not authorized to appeal a final Commission decision; the Division, being subservient to its own agency, the Commission, is bound by the Commission's final decision. *See* Utah Code § 59-1-601 and 602; Utah Admin. Code r. R861-1A-24(3)(a)(iv). However, if a Commission decision is appealed by a taxpayer or a county, the Commission itself can appear as a party before the court to defend its appealed decision.

Commission orders appealed to a district court tax judge are reviewed *de novo*. In its ruling, the court may "affirm, reverse, modify, or remand any order of the commission, and shall grant other relief, invoke such other remedies, and issue such orders, in accordance with its decision, as appropriate." Utah Code. §§ 59-1-601(1-2) and 604.

#### B. The Counties Are Required to Exhaust Administrative Remedies.

In Utah, "parties must exhaust applicable administrative remedies as a prerequisite to seeking judicial review." *Nebeker v. Utah State Tax Comm'n*, 2001 UT 74, ¶ 14, 34 P.3d 180 (quoting *State Tax Comm'n v. Iverson*, 782 P.2d 519, 524 (Utah 1989)).

"Exceptions to this rule exist in unusual circumstances where it appears that there is a likelihood that some oppression or injustice is occurring such that it would be unconscionable not to review the alleged grievance or where it appears that exhaustion would serve no useful purpose." *Id*.

Here, the Counties do not argue that the exception provided for "unusual circumstances" is applicable, but argue it would serve no useful purpose. However, the Counties themselves acknowledged the potential for dismissal for failure to exhaust administrative remedies in their opposition to the State's Motion to Dismiss. (R. 370). In response to the State's argument that the Counties must challenge an actual tax assessment to create a justiciable case, the Counties argued:

The State's reference to certain appeals filed by one Plaintiff County is irrelevant to the State's erroneous 'ripeness' arguments. At best, the existing [sic] of pending appeals or 'objections' would be relevant to an alleged failure to exhaust argument, which the State did not raise and did not brief. (R. 370). However, the Airlines' Motion did "raise" and "brief" the "failure to exhaust argument." (R. 562-87; 715-31).

No longer able to challenge the preservation of this issue, the Counties now ask to be excused from exhausting required administrative remedies, suggesting it will serve no purpose where the claims involve constitutional challenges. (Cty. Br., pp. 22-25). But this view is incorrect because (i) the administrative proceedings could obviate the Counties' constitutional challenges; and (ii) administrative proceedings are needed to help frame and develop the factual issues before an appropriate court.

# (i) Administrative Proceedings Could Obviate the Counties' Constitutional Claims.

"Although the [Tax] Commission cannot determine questions of legality or constitutionality of legislative enactments, . . . the introduction of a constitutional issue does not necessarily avoid the requirement to exhaust administrative remedies." *TDM*, *Inc. v. Tax Comm'n*, 2004 UT App 433, ¶ 4, 103 P.3d 190 (citations omitted); *see also Patterson v. Am. Fork City*, 2003 UT 7, ¶ 18, 67 P.3d 466 (holding as incorrect the assertion "that administrative remedies need not be exhausted to pursue state constitutional claims"). "Exhaustion of remedies is still required when the administrative proceeding <u>may</u> obviate the need to reach the constitutional question." *TDM*, 2004 UT App 433, ¶ 5 (emphasis added); *see also Nebeker*, 2001 UT 74, ¶ 16 ("If an administrative proceeding might leave no remnant of the constitutional question, the administrative remedy plainly should be pursued."). Since there is a presumption a statute is constitutional, the Commission should conduct administrative proceedings in an effort to resolve such appeals without reaching the constitutional issues. *See Salt Lake City v. Kidd*, 2019 UT 4, ¶ 21, --- P.3d --- ("All statutes are presumed to be constitutional and the party challenging a statute bears the burden of proving its invalidity.") (citations omitted); *see also Rio Algom Corp. v. San Juan Cty.*, 681 P.2d 184, 191 (Utah 1984) ("The presumption of constitutionality applies with particular force to tax statutes."). Contrary to the Counties' assertion, Utah law does not require the Airlines to predict outcomes and show that an administrative proceeding before the Commission *will* obviate the need to reach the constitutional question; the mere possibility is enough to require exhaustion. *See Nebeker*, 2001 UT 74, ¶ 16.

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